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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	JORGE OSOBAMPO, 

                                               Employee, 

                                                  Applicant,

                                                   v. 

ICICLE SEAFOODS, INC.,

                                               Employer,

                                                 and 

SEABRIGHT INSURANCE CO.,

                                               Insurer,

                                                  Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200524063
AWCB Decision No. 12-0105

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on June 18, 2012


Jorge Osobampo’s (Employee) November 9, 2006 and November 11, 2009 workers’ compensation claims were heard on May 2, 2012, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Employee appeared telephonically and testified.  Lori Roberts, Human Resources Manager, appeared and testified for Icicle Seafoods, Inc. (Employer).  Non-attorney representative Alejandro Rodriguez appeared telephonically, represented Employee, and provided translation.  Attorney Elise Rose appeared and represented Employer and its workers’ compensation insurer.  The record initially closed at the hearing’s conclusion on May 2, 2012, but was reopened on May 3, 2012, for the parties to submit documentary evidence of the date Employer prepared and postmarked checks to Employee for travel reimbursement.  The record closed on June 13, 2012, when the panel met to deliberate and consider the post-hearing evidence.

ISSUES
Employee contends he timely, verbally reported his injury to his supervisor, but was ignored.  He contends his claims and hearing request were timely.

Employer contends Employee never reported his alleged injury to his supervisor.  It contends Employee concedes he never filed a written report.  Employer contends Employee’s claims are barred by AS 23.30.100, 105(a) and 110(c).

1) Are Employee’s claims barred by AS 23.30.100, 105(a) or 110(c)?

Employee contends he injured his shoulder and neck while employed with Employer and has not returned to work anywhere since leaving the job in August 2005.  He contends he completed a pre-employment health questionnaire listing his prior illness and injuries, and Employer hired him knowing his past medical history.  Employee contends Employer is liable for his injuries, temporary total disability (TTD), and medical treatment because it hired him knowing he had pre-existing conditions.

Employer contends Employee worked almost the entire 2005 season and when he left, did not tell Employer he had any work-related injury.  Employer contends there was no injury.  It also contends the available medical evidence shows overwhelmingly Employee’s work for Employer was not a substantial factor of his disability or need for medical treatment.

2) If Employee’s claims are not barred, is he entitled to TTD or medical costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT 

A review of the relevant record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) Employee speaks Spanish, and English is a second-language (observations).

2) Employee is represented by a non-attorney who is fluent in both Spanish and English (id.).

3) On May 8, 1990, Employee injured his low back and was unable to continue working after moving sacks of onions for 13 hours.  He was diagnosed with a low back strain and a history of disk herniations in the lumbar spine (Sidney Levine, M.D., report, May 16, 1991).

4) On October 9, 1990, Employee saw Veerinder Anand, M.D., complaining of low back pain and left shoulder discomfort secondary to weather change (Dr. Anand report, October 9, 1990).

5) On June 25, 1990, Employee reported a history of a left shoulder injury with pain radiating to his left arm which over time resolved (id., June 25, 1990).

6) On October 5, 1999, Employee saw William Temple, M.D., for evaluation of a work-related injury, which occurred on November 1, 1998.  Employee complained of pain in the lower neck, upper back, shoulders, arms, and ears, with associated headaches and dizziness.  Employee related the symptoms to lifting a large pot weighing approximately 50 pounds (Dr. Temple report, October 5, 1999).

7) Employee worked for Employer in 2004 and claims he hurt himself though he finished the entire 2004 season (Employee).

8) In 2004, Employer required Employee to work in a tank carrying buckets of crabs.  Employee claims he injured his neck, lower back and shoulders while lifting these buckets (id.).

9) Employee testified he told a Filipino supervisor about these injuries in 2004, but he does not remember the supervisor’s name (id.).

10) Employee said Employer does not pay attention to people getting injured so he never filed a written report in 2004 (id.).

11) When Employee returned to work for Employer in 2005, he completed a health questionnaire on which he said he injured himself working for Employer in 2004 (id.; see also Health Questionnaire, June 9, 2005)

12) On June 9, 2005, Employee stated on his health questionnaire he had an injury due to “repetitive motion,” and had a “back injury or strain.”  Specifically, Employee wrote “injury last season in the low back in crab 2004 strain.”  He also wrote “injury here last year” (Health Questionnaire, June 9, 2005).

13) Notwithstanding this, Employer hired him again and put him to work with the crabs (Employee).

14) Employee believed Employer should have put him in an easier job in 2005 because he had reported the 2004 injury (id.).

15) However, Employee is not seeking benefits as a result of any 2004 injury with Employer (id.).

16) Employer moved Employee to work with salmon, which required regular knife work, and his shoulders began to hurt (id.)

17) Employee initially could point to no specific, single event in 2005, which injured him but concluded after working for an unspecified time his symptoms came back from 2004 (id.).

18) Employee worked with pain until he told “Lori” he could no longer continue (id.).

19) Lori told Employee he could go to California and send her information about the doctor who was attending him so Employee could be reimbursed for his travel home (id.).

20) Employee returned to California and sent Lori documentation from his attending physician, and Employer sent him his reimbursements and bunkhouse rent checks (id.).

21) Employee claims TTD from August 18, 2005, through the present and continuing (id.).
22) Employee has not been employed since he left Employer’s job and believes he is not capable of working because of his injury, which has become progressively worse symptomatically (id.).

23) Employee had at least three workers’ compensation cases in other states before his injury with Employer (id.).

24) Employee was represented by attorneys in those cases (id.).

25) Employee did not disclose these prior injuries to his attending physicians Trent Habstritt, DC, and Douglas Roger, M.D., to the employer medical evaluators (EME) William Stump, M.D., and James Champoux, M.D., or to the second independent medical evaluator (SIME) Edward Tapper, M.D. (id.).

26) Employee claims none of these physicians asked him about prior work-related injuries (id.).

27) Employee did not file a formal report of injury for the 2005 injury until 2006 because he could not find an attorney or anyone to help him and did not know what to do (id.).

28) On November 27, 2006, Employee filed a formal injury report, which he said accurately described how Employee believes he injured himself.  The report states in block 15:

Picking up 30-40 pd buckets of crab over shoulders to dump in chute working 12-16 hrs days 7 days a wk (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, November 9, 2006).

29) Employee filed his formal injury report in November 2006 because he spoke to his non-attorney representative at that time, who advised him to file (Employee).

30) Employee’s work routine was to kill the crabs rapidly, fill buckets with crabs, climb a ladder, and lift the buckets over his shoulder and dump the crabs into a container.  Employee would do this repeatedly with buckets weighing over 30 pounds each, and this is what he believes eventually led to his injuries (id.).

31) Employee’s injury report states in block 14 the body part injured was “full back.”  Employee clarified he included his shoulders in this description, and his back all the way down to his waist (id.).

32) Employee stated he knew in June 2004 he had initially injured himself, but mid-July 2005 is when he really started noticing the pain was getting worse, but he nonetheless continued working until August 18, 2005 (id.).

33) Employee clarified mid-July 2005 is when he first realized lifting buckets of crab is what caused his shoulder symptoms (id.).

34) In July and August 2005, Employee reported his injury to the Filipino supervisor, whose name he cannot recall, to “Sergio,” and to Lori, who Employee clarified was Lori Roberts (id.).  

35) Employee never provided Employer with a timely Report of Occupational Injury or Illness form within 30 days for his 2005 injury.  “Everything was verbal” (id.).

36) Employee testified he never called anyone at the Alaska Division of Workers’ Compensation to find out what to do about his 2005 injury because he was unaware he could call (id.).

37) Employee testified he told Lori Roberts in mid-July 2005 he injured his neck and shoulder blades lifting buckets of crab on-the-job (id.). 

38) Performing Employee’s job lifting buckets of crabs and cutting salmon with a knife could easily cause a cervical strain (experience; observations).

39) Employee says he did not discuss with Lori spitting up bloody mucus (Employee).

40) Employee disagrees with Ms. Roberts’ account of the conversation they had, and testified he pointed to his neck and shoulder blades rather than to his chest while speaking with her through the translator (id.).

41) On August 18, 2005, Employee had a “compensable event” when he left work because of his alleged injury (id.).

42) On August 31, 2005, Employee saw Theo Kircher, DC, for the first medical treatment for his alleged injury after leaving Employer’s premises (id.).

43) Employee was in “strong pain” when he saw Dr. Kircher in 2005 (id.).

44) On his initial visit, Employee completed a “Claim Statement of Employee,” which listed his Social Security number, date he last worked, date his disability began, name, date of birth, address, Employer’s name and address, his occupation, and stated he stopped working because of a “work injury.”  This is part of a three-page form, which includes the doctor’s Certificate of Disability.  On page three, Employee specifically stated the disability was caused by his job, he had filed or intended to file for workers’ compensation benefits, the date of his injury was August 18, 2005, and the employer as shown on his workers’ compensation “claim” was Icicle Petersburg Fisheries (Claim for Disability Insurance Benefits -- Claim Statement of Employee, August 31, 2005).

45) On August 31, 2005, Employee sent Dr. Kircher’s paperwork to Lori Roberts as she directed (id.; see also Claim For Disability Insurance Benefits, August 31, 2005).

46) Ms. Roberts did not dispute Employer having received this form as Employee testified, but stated she was unclear whether she had ever seen it personally (Roberts).

47) Dr. Kircher’s report describes treating Employee from August 24, 2005, to the then-present on a weekly basis, twice per week, for cervical and thoracic strain, and cervical brachial syndrome, with findings including palpable tenderness of the cervical and thoracic spine with decreased range of motion of the cervical and thoracic area, and positive “shoulder depression” bilaterally (Claim For Disability Insurance Benefits -- Doctor’s Certificate, August 31, 2005).

48) On this same report, Dr. Kircher checked the “YES” box to the following question:

BASED ON YOUR EXAMINATION OF PATIENT, IS THIS DISABILITY THE RESULT OF “OCCUPATION,” EITHER AS AN “INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT” OR AS AN “OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE”?  (INCLUDE SITUATIONS WHERE PATIENT’S OCCUPATION HAS AGGRAVATED PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS.) (id.).

49) Dr. Kircher opined Employee was disabled from his regular or customary work beginning August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005 (id.).

50) “About a month” after sending this report to Employer, Employee received his reimbursements from Employer (Employee).

51) Employer sent Employee checks on August 19, 2005, for meals, on September 2, 2005, for meals and return of Employee’s damage and key deposit, and on November 23, 2005, for his housing allowance (letter from Employee, May 14, 2012, with attachments).

52) Dr. Kircher eventually refused to provide Employee services for lack of insurance (id.).

53) Because he still desired to receive medical care, Employee next saw Jaime Rodriquez Jacobo, M.D., in late 2005, in Mexicali, Mexico, as a substitution physician for medical treatment for his injury because his pain was getting worse (id.; see also Desert Oasis Therapy Center Report, November 13, 2006).

54) Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo prescribed painkillers and advised Employee how to treat his injury (id.).

55) Employee paid Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo for his services (Employee).

56) There are no medical records from Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo in the file (observations). 

57) Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo was not helping Employee’s symptoms resolve, so he changed to Dr. Habstritt (Employee).

58) On November 13, 2006, Employee changed physicians and Dr. Habstritt evaluated him (Patient’s History of the Injury(ies), November 13, 2006).

59) On his patient’s history, Employee denied any prior injuries and complained of his back, both arms and shoulders, head, both legs and his “psyche” (id.).

60) On November 14, 2006, Dr. Habstritt relying upon Employee’s history given the day prior found complaints of pain in the neck and associated headaches, mid- to low-back pain radiating down the legs bilaterally, and pain in both shoulders and wrists.  Dr. Habstritt diagnosed cervicalgia, thoracalgia, lumbalgia, and bilateral shoulder internal derangement.  He opined his findings and diagnoses were consistent with Employee’s account of injury with Employer, the condition was chronic, he prescribed treatment, stated Employee was not able to perform his usual work, and said he could return to modified work effective January 14, 2007 (Dr. Habstritt  report, November 14, 2006). 

61) Employer subsequently filed a timely request for cross-examination of this report (Request for Cross-Examination, March 4, 2010).  

62) On December 4, 2007, Dr. Habstritt referred Employee to Douglas Roger, M.D. (Dr. Habstritt report, December 4, 2007).

63) Dr. Habstritt’s bill remains unpaid (Employee).

64) On March 21, 2008, Employee saw Dr. Roger who wrote a lengthy medical report to an attorney located in Birmingham, Michigan, reportedly representing Employee (Appointment Information Sheet, March 20, 2008).

65) Employer subsequently filed a timely request for cross-examination of this report (Request for Cross-Examination, March 4, 2010).  

66) Employee told Dr. Roger he had sustained a work-related injury on July 1, 2005, to his upper back and upper extremities dumping crab into a tank.  Employee denied any prior injuries.  Dr. Roger diagnosed a chronic sprain and strain of the cervical spine, and left shoulder impingement syndrome with a partial thickness supraspinatus tendon tear, with similar findings on the right shoulder.  He opined Employee was temporarily totally disabled and recommended right shoulder arthroscopy.  Based upon Employee’s history, his examination, and the available medical records, Dr. Roger opined the symptoms noted developed as a result of the injury in question, though he conceded his opinion might change if additional information came to light (Dr. Roger report, March 21, 2008).

67) Dr. Roger continued to treat Employee regularly through at least September 11, 2009, rendered him temporarily totally disabled, and recommended right shoulder arthroscopic surgery (Dr. Roger’s reports, March 21, 2008 through September 11, 2009).

68) Employer subsequently filed a timely request for cross-examination of these reports (Request for Cross-Examination, March 4, 2010).  

69) Dr. Roger was not aware of Employee’s prior medical history concerning injuries to his neck and shoulders (observations).

70) On November 27, 2006, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim requesting TTD and medical costs from July 2005 and continuing.  Employee’s claim describes his injury similarly to the way his injury report described it, and states he injured his full back and both shoulders.  This claim bears no evidence the board served it on any party (claim, November 9, 2006).

71) Employer was aware of Employee’s November 9, 2006 claim, because it prepared a Controversion Notice dated December 12, 2006 (Controversion Notice, December 12, 2006).

72) On April 18, 2008, Employer filed a Controversion Notice controverting all benefits on the grounds Employee failed to report a work-related injury within 30 days from the date of injury.  This notice is dated nearly a year and a half before the date it was filed (Controversion Notice, December 12, 2006).

73) The agency’s computer database also shows a controversion notice filed April 10, 2008 (Board database).

74) On November 16, 2009, Employee filed another workers’ compensation claim requesting TTD from July 1, 2005, through the present and requesting medical treatment.  The board served this claim on the parties on November 16, 2009.  Attached to this claim was a copy of Employee’s November 9, 2006 claim (claim, November 11, 2009).

75) On November 25, 2009, Employer filed a Controversion Notice, denying all benefits on the grounds Employee failed to report a work-related injury to Employer within 30 days from the injury date, left employment without mentioning any injury, and never reported the alleged injury until November 27, 2006.  Employer also controverted on grounds Employee has no injury, disability or need for medical treatment arising out of or in the course of his employment with Employer, and his employment was not the substantial cause of any injury, disability or need for medical treatment (Controversion Notice, November 24, 2009).

76) On February 4, 2010, the parties attended a prehearing conference.  The prehearing conference summary states the following:

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS:

The EE is reminded that, if a controversion notice is served and filed, after the date his workers’ compensation claim is filed, he must serve and file an affidavit requesting a hearing, in accordance with 8 AAC 45.070, within two years of the controversion to avoid possible dismissal of his claim.  
AS 23.30.11(c) provides: ‘If the employer controvert a claim on a board-prescribed controversion notice and the employee does not request a hearing within two years following the filing of the controversion notice, the claim is denied.’  The designee will include a form for the affidavit with Mr. Osobampo’s copy of this prehearing conference summary.  

Here, Mr. Osobampo filed a claim on 11/9/2006, which was controverted on 12/12/2006.  The two-year time period for that claim may have expired, but there are some situations in which the time may be extended.

Mr. Osobampo filed a second claim on 11/11/2009, and a controversion was filed on 11/27/2009.  A hearing must be requested by 11/11/2011.  Some events in the case may toll (extend) this deadline as to some claims, however, the parties are urged to remain aware of this earliest deadline and the possibility of dismissal if a hearing is not timely requested (Prehearing Conference Summary, February 4, 2010).

77) On February 26, 2010, Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on his November 9, 2006 and November 11, 2009 claims (Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing, February 22, 2010).

78) Employee’s February 22, 2010 Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing was filed within two years of the Controversion Notice filed on April 18, 2008 (record).

79) On March 4, 2010, Employer filed a timely request for cross-examination of numerous medical records (Request for Cross-Examination, March 4, 2010).

80) Employer’s Request for Cross-Examination was filed within 10 days of the date Employee filed his February 22, 2010 Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (observations).

81) On April 14, 2010, Dr. Stump and Dr. Champoux saw Employee for an EME.  Employee only disclosed a low back injury in 1989.  The EME panel concluded Employee suffered a cervical strain in August 2005, while working for Employer, but his global symptoms cannot be attributed to his work for Employer.  They opined Employee’s shoulder discomfort was age related and not due to the effects of any injury.  The panel opined the employment did not represent a substantial cause of the symptoms the patient currently reported.  They did not believe Employee was disabled.  The EME physicians stated Employee was medically stable as of April 14, 2010.  They had no recommendations for additional treatment (EME report, April 14, 2010).

82) On August 5, 2010, Employer’s attorney signed a Second Independent Medical Evaluation Form, stipulating to an SIME, which Employee had previously requested on July 28, 2010 (SIME form, July 28, 2010, August 25, 2010).

83) Employee wants Employer to pay outstanding medical bills associated with Dr. Habstritt and Dr. Rogers, and reimburse Employee for what he paid Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo (Employee).

84) Employee did not provide Employer, the insurer, Ms. Rose, or the board copies of medical bills either outstanding or those he paid (id.).

85) To the extent the board’s file includes copies of unpaid medical bills, or evidence of what Employee paid Dr. Rodriguez Jacobo from his own pocket, these are the amounts Employee wants Employer to pay (id.).

86) There are no billings for any of the unpaid physicians and no evidence in the record of Employee’s out-of-pocket medical expenses for which he seeks an order for payment (record).

87) Employee did not give a reason for failing to document his medical claim (id.).

88) Lori Roberts works for Employer in Petersburg, Alaska, and has been employed for Employer for 32 years.  Ms. Roberts was Human Resources Manager in 2004 at 2005.  Employee never reported any work-related injuries to her 2004.  She occasionally helps with workers’ compensation issues.  She eventually learns of all work-related injuries because people come to her and tell her they have been injured.  If she learns of a work-related injury, her procedure is to find the injured person, speak with them, and take them to obtain medical care if necessary (Roberts).

89) During orientation, Employer’s employees are trained how to report injuries, which includes reporting to supervisors or otherwise going up the chain of command (id.).

90) According to Ms. Roberts, Employee did not report any injuries to her in 2005.  If he had reported one, she stated she would have known about it (id.).

91) The last time Ms. Roberts saw Employee was at the job site in August 2005 (id.).

92) Ms. Roberts recalls the last conversation she had with Employee, because she recalls all people who request early termination.  She took her assistant Lily Estrada, who speaks Spanish, with her to interview Employee in August 2005.  Employee gestured to his “chest” and said he had pains and was coughing and said his “lungs hurt.”  Ms. Roberts attempted to convince Employee to go to the clinic for evaluation so he would not have to leave the job before the season was over (id.).

93) Employee denied he gestured to his chest when he spoke with Ms. Roberts, but rather, pointed to his neck and shoulder area (Employee).

94) Ms. Roberts believes Employee did not appear confused when her translator and she were speaking with him in August 2005 about why he wanted to leave camp (Roberts).

95) Employee looked generally “fine” during this conversation but looked like he did not feel well and perhaps had a cold (id.).

96) According to Ms. Roberts, Employee did not mention any injury to his head, neck, shoulders or back during this conversation (id.).

97) Employee did not receive treatment at the clinic, but left camp (id.).

98) Employee never called Ms. Roberts to advise her of any work-related injury suffered on the job with Employer (id.).

99) Had Employee called her to report injury, Ms. Roberts would have told the safety manager who would have completed the necessary paperwork and talk to employee (id.).

100) The safety manager never completed any paperwork and did not talk to Employee in August 2005 or thereafter (id.).

101) Employer’s normal practice when someone reports an injury is to determine what happened to them, and try to accommodate them by moving the injured person to an area that does not continue to bother them physically (id.).

102) Employee got moved from the crab area to the salmon area only because crab season was over.  All employees get moved once the crab season is done (id.).

103) Employer regularly asks employees in orientation if they have any physical limitations, in which case Employer will put them in an area where they do not have to lift over their expressed limitations (id.).

104) A Spanish translator is provided for employee orientation and assists with completing health questionnaires (id.).

105)  Ms. Roberts does not recall receiving the August 31, 2005 facsimile from Employee with his doctor’s paperwork attached, but admitted Employer received it because she changed his status on the rehire list, which is a standard practice.  If a person has a “personal medical” issue and they go home, and a doctor sends a medical report documenting the issue, Employer will provide the travel expenses to the injured person (id.).

106) Ms. Roberts believed Employee left the job because of a “personal medical illness,” and left on his own accord.  Employer’s procedures state if a person leaves the job because they have a personal illness, not work-related, and sends a doctor’s report stating they left because of personal reasons, Employer will reimburse the employee for his or her travel expenses (id.).

107) Ms. Roberts does not believe she ever saw Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 paperwork (id.).

108) Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 “disability certificate” alone does not provide Employer with actual notice of a work-related injury incurred while Employee was employed with Employer because it does not include a statement of the time, place, nature and cause of the injury, and is not signed by Employee, but the entire three-page form includes all relevant information and provides timely actual notice (Claim For Disability Insurance Benefits, August 31, 2005).

109) Employee conceded he never filed a timely, written report of injury with Employer for his 2005 injury (Employee).

110) On March 10, 2011, Edward Tapper, M.D., saw Employee for an SIME.  Dr. Tapper noted Employee’s interview was difficult even with an interpreter.  Employee complained of “total body pain,” with an emphasis on his shoulders, neck and back.  The left shoulder hurt the most.  Dr. Tapper’s report states he asked Employee if he had any prior troubles and Employee said no.  Dr. Tapper reminded Employee of his 1999 injury to essentially the same body parts for which he was presently complaining.  Dr. Tapper concurred with the opinions from Dr. Stump and Dr. Champoux.  He did not find Employee’s history “totally credible.”  Dr. Tapper opined Employee’s work experience with Employer is not “the substantial factor” in causing “his conditions,” all of which pre-existed his employment to some extent and would most likely be present absent his employment with Employer.  However, Dr. Tapper opined the employment aggravated Employee’s pre-existing conditions and produced the need for medical treatment to a limited extent, which was temporary and resolved.  Employee was medically stable by September 11, 2009 at the latest.  Any surgery needed on Employee’s shoulders would be non-industrial.  Dr. Tapper stated chiropractic treatment had been excessive and Employee needed no additional treatment.  In Dr. Tapper’s opinion, any permanent partial impairment would not be substantially caused by Employee’s work with Employer (Dr. Tapper’s report, March 10, 2011).

111) Employee is not completely credible (observations)

PRINCIPLES OF LAW
AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) Worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  “An employee’s preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case (id. at 534).  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment. A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary. That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable” (id.).

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”  DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P.2d 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).  
Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether her injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.100. Notice of injury or death. (a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.

         

(b) The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee and a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee, or, in case of death, by a person claiming to be entitled to compensation for the death or by a person on behalf of that person.

         

(c) Notice shall be given to the board by delivering it or sending it by mail addressed to the board’s office, and to the employer by delivering it to the employer or by sending it by mail addressed to the employer at the employer’s last known place of business.  If the employer is a partnership, the notice may be given to a partner, or if a corporation, the notice may be given to an agent or officer upon whom legal process may be served or who is in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred.

         

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given;

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.

The 30 day notice period in which an injured worker must file a formal, written injury report begins the day a “compensable event” occurs.  A compensable event occurs when an employee loses time from work because of his injury, or obtains medical treatment.  Cogger v.  Anchor House, 936 P.2d 157 (Alaska 1997).  Failure to give timely, formal, written notice is an absolute bar to a claim.  Id. at 160.  However, the law excuses failure to provide timely, formal notice if the employer has knowledge of the injury and did not suffer prejudice for lack of a formal, written report.  Id.  An employer’s actual knowledge of an injury within the 30-day limitation period for formal, timely formal notice is not prejudicial to an employer.  Id. at 162.  Notice to an employer of a work-related injury two to 12 days outside the 30-day formal reporting period is also not prejudicial.  Id.

AS 23.30.105. Time for filing of claims. (a) The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising out of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of injury, and the right to compensation for death is barred unless a claim therefor is filed within one year after the death, except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.041, 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.

(b) Failure to file a claim within the period prescribed in (a) of this section is not a bar to compensation unless objection to the failure is made at the first hearing of the claim in which all parties in interest are given reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard.

(c) If a person who is entitled to compensation under this chapter is mentally incompetent or a minor, the provisions of (a) of this section are not applicable so long as the person has no guardian or other authorized representative, but are applicable in the case of a person who is mentally incompetent or a minor from the date of appointment of a guardian or other representative, or in the case of a minor, if no guardian is appointed before the person becomes of age, from the date the person becomes of age.

(d) If recovery is denied to a person, in a suit brought at law or in admiralty to recover damages in respect to injury or death, on the ground that the person was an employee and that the defendant is an employer within the meaning of this chapter and that the employer has secured compensation to the employee under this chapter, the limitation of time prescribed in (a) of this section begins to run only from the date of termination of the suit.

AS 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims.  (a) Subject to the provisions of 
AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability following an injury . . . and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim.

. . .

(c) Before a hearing is scheduled, a party seeking a hearing shall file a request for hearing together with an affidavit stating that the party has completed necessary discovery, obtained necessary evidence, and is prepared for the hearing. An opposing party shall have 10 days after the hearing request is filed to file a response. . . .  If the employer controverts a claim on a board-prescribed controversion notice and the employee does not request a hearing within two years following the filing of the controversion notice, the claim is denied. . . .

In Kim v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc., 197 P.3d 193 (Alaska 2008), the court noted §110(c) though different, is “likened” to a statute of limitations defense, which is a “disfavored” defense, and “provisions absent from subsection .110(c) should not be read into it.”  Kim said:

Subsection .110(c) is a procedural statute that ‘sets up the legal machinery through which a right is processed’ and ‘directs the claimant to take certain action following controversion.’  A party must strictly comply with a procedural statute only if its provisions are mandatory; if they are directory, then ‘substantial compliance is acceptable absent significant prejudice to the other party.’  In South Anchorage Concerned Coalition, Inc. v. Municipality of Anchorage, we examined a municipal ordinance with language similar to the language in subsection .110(c).  In that case, we determined that the ordinance was directory, not mandatory, so that strict compliance with the ordinance was not required.  We stated there:

A statute is considered directory if (1) its wording is affirmative rather than prohibitive; (2) the legislative intent was to create ‘guidelines for the orderly conduct of public business’; and (3) ‘serious, practical consequences would result if it were considered mandatory.’

We conclude that the language of subsection .110(c) satisfies these criteria and hold its provisions are directory.  First, the language of subsection .110(c) is affirmative, not prohibitive.  The first sentence of the statute directs a party to file a request for a hearing with an affidavit of readiness to schedule a hearing, but it does not say what a party or the Board should not do.  The last sentence of the subsection also gives an affirmative directive, rather than a prohibition, simply stating that a claim is denied if the employee does not request a hearing within two years following a notice of controversion.

Second, the legislature added the affidavit requirement to create procedural guidelines for the orderly conduct of public business.  Although the last sentence of subsection .110(c) imposes a penalty on a claimant for failing to meet the deadline to request a hearing, legislative history supports the conclusion that the primary purpose of requiring an affidavit was to create guidelines for the orderly conduct of public business.  The House Judiciary Committee’s sectional analysis of the legislation reenacting subsection .110(c) to include an affidavit requirement stated that this subsection was meant to address delays in getting disputed cases before the Board and ‘the [B]oard’s problems in timely docketing cases for hearing.’

The Alaska Supreme Court in Tipton v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 922 P.2d 910, 912-913 (Alaska 1996) noted the statute of limitations defense is “generally disfavored,” and neither “the law [n]or the facts should be strained in aid of it.”

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

. . .

(b) If delay in giving notice is excused by the board under AS 23.30.100(d)(2), the burden of proof of the validity of the claim shifts to the employee notwithstanding the provisions of (a) of this section.
An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claim and his employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish the link.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence establishing a “preliminary link” between the claim and the employment.  Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).   The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the employment and the question at issue.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” sufficient to raise the presumption (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  

Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence to rebut it.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence are deferred until after it is decided the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption.  Ugale, 92 P.3d at 417 (Alaska 2004).

If the employer produces substantial evidence, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d at 1381.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1049 (Alaska 1978).  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption (id. at 1046).  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board (id. at 1049).  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision with only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.  Black v. Universal Services, 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

8 AAC 45.900(a)(11) defines a “Smallwood objection” as “an objection to the introduction into evidence of written medical reports in place of direct testimony by a physician; see Commercial Union Insurance Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).”  Requests for cross-examination are also known as “Smallwood” objections.  In Smallwood, the Alaska Supreme Court found “the statutory right to cross-examine is absolute and applicable to the board.”  Id. at 1265, citing Employer Commercial Union Ins. Group v. Schoen, 519 P.2d at 824.  Smallwood recommended the board adopt procedures to “fill the present procedural void relating to medical reports and the right of cross-examination.”  Id. at 1267.   Previously in Schoen, the Court suggested four procedural systems the board could adopt to insure parties are afforded the right to cross-examination.  The first suggestion was a procedural system for medical reports similar to the one used by the board for the submission and cross-examination of testimony provided in affidavit form (see former version of 8 AAC 45.120(d)).  The second was for the board to pay costs of cross-examination, the third was to apportion costs of cross-examination to the losing party, and the last suggestion was to have cross-examination testimony presented by deposition, which could substitute for the right to cross-examine at the hearing.  Id. at 1267-68.  In response, the board adopted amendments to 8 AAC 45.052(c) and 8 AAC 45.120(f)-(j) to provide for notice and the opportunity for cross-examination.  The board did not choose to shift costs of examination to the party seeking to introduce evidence.

The procedure for submitting medical reports for the board’s review and requesting the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report is outlined in 8 AAC 45. 052(c)(4).  This regulation and 8 AAC 45.120(h) allow for submission of medical reports without the opportunity for cross-examination if the documents are admissible under one of the hearsay exceptions of the Alaska Rules of Evidence.  

Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(6) states the following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even if the declarant is available as a witness:

Business records.
  A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, options, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge acquired of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make and keep the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of the preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness.  The term ‘business’ as used in this paragraph includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit.

In Dobos v. Ingersoll, 9 P.3d 1020, 1027 (Alaska 2000), the Alaska Supreme Court held “medical records, including doctors’ chart notes, opinions, and diagnoses, fall squarely within the business records exception to the hearsay rule” unless there is some reason to believe the records are not genuine or trustworthy.  In Dobos, Ingersoll requested Dobos admit genuineness of Ingersoll’s medical records under the Civil Rules.  Dobos refused to admit to authenticity of Ingersoll’s medical records and during litigation Ingersoll called doctors to testify and lay a foundation for the records.  The Court imposed Civil Rule sanctions against Dobos for failing to admit the genuineness of Ingersoll’s medical records.  The Court reasoned: “Requiring testimony that medical records were made and kept in the regular course of business is a waste of time unless there is some reason to believe that the records are not genuine or trustworthy.”  Id. at 1028.

Parker v. Power Constructors, AWCB Decision No. 91-0150 (May, 17, 1991), regarding the “trustworthiness” requirement of Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(6), noted:

Statements by professionals, such as doctors, expressing their opinion on a relevant matter, should be excluded only in rare circumstances, particularly if the expert is independent of any party, and especially if the reports have been made available to the other side through discovery so that rebuttal evidence can be prepared (Id. at 7, citing 4 Weinstein’s Evidence Rule 803 at 803-211 (1990)).


Jensen v. Dames & Moore, AWCB Decision No. 00-0198 (September 14, 2000) and Brown-Kinard v. Key Services Corp. and Arctic Slope Telephone Assn. & Cooperative, AWCB Decision No. 00-0190 (August 31, 2000), determined a treating physician’s medical records were admissible under the business records exception to the hearsay rule (Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(6) and the “catch all” provision of Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(23)).  See also, Amundson v. M-I Drilling Fluids, AWCB Decision No. 00-0018 (February 1, 2000), and Fritz v. Everts Air Fuel, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 95-0213 (August 18, 1995).  Depending on the facts, medical reports also can be seen as non-hearsay evidence under Alaska Evidence Rule 801(d)(2).  See Frazier v. H.C. Price/CIRI Const. JV, 794 P.2d 103 (Alaska 1990).

Justice Rabinowitz, Smallwood’s author, joined in a concurring opinion in Frazier and stated:

[A] strict reading of Smallwood does not compel a conclusion that the Board must construe its regulations governing the admission of documentary evidence to require a party relying on the documentary evidence to pay the initial cost of cross-examination by the opponent. . . .

Frazier v. H.C. Price/CIRI Const. JV, 794 P.2d at 108.

Further, the Court said Dobos could have called Ingersoll’s doctors to the stand himself after he denied Ingersoll’s request to admit medical evidence because he wanted to cross-examine Ingersoll’s doctors about some of their medical conclusions.  Dobos v. Ingersoll, 9 P.3d at 1028.  Current Alaska case law, Board decisions, workers’ compensation statutes and regulations do not require the party seeking the admission of medical records as evidence to pay for the costs of cross-examination by the opposing party, but rather serve to protect the parties’ right to cross-examination.  

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence. . . . 

. . .

(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

. . .


(2) to introduce exhibits; . . . .


(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter. Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. . . . 

(f) Any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for a conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing. . . . 

In Failla v. Fairbanks Resources, AWCAC Decision No. 162 (June 8, 2012), the employer argued the board erred when it “retained jurisdiction to consider modification of [its] order under AS 23.30.130 ‘concerning possible medical bills before July 22, 2009, which may remain in dispute.’”  Failla said pursuant to 8 AAC.45.120(f), certain documents, which would necessarily include medical bills, served on the parties and in the board’s possession “20 or more days before hearing, will . . . be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision[.]”  An exception to this provision is set forth in AS 23.30.130(a), the statute addressing modification of Board orders, and 8 AAC 45.150(d), the board regulation covering the same subject.  The statute and regulation read together allow for a procedure whereby Board orders may be modified based on a mistake in the board’s determination of a fact.  Thus, they are, among other things, a means of relieving a party of the requirement in 8 AAC 45.120(f) of having to submit documentary evidence 20 days before the original hearing is held.  Failla said:

However, 8 AAC 45.150(d)(2) provides that if modification is sought owing to newly discovered evidence, an affidavit must be filed explaining the reasons why, with due diligence, the evidence could not have been discovered and produced at the time of the hearing.  As the Alaska Supreme Court commented: “The key language in this regulation is the requirement that new evidence could not have been discoverable prior to the hearing through due diligence. . . .  This requirement is fair because an allegation of mistake ‘should not serve as ‘a back-door route to retrying a case because one party thinks he can make a better showing on a second attempt’’ [citation omitted].

With respect to her medical bills predating July 22, 2009, it is difficult to conceive a set of circumstances under which Failla could potentially satisfy the requirement of AS 23.30.130(a) and 8 AAC 45.150(d) that she demonstrate the evidence consisting of her medical bills could not have been discovered and produced prior to the hearing. . . . 

ANALYSIS

1) Are Employee’s claims barred by AS 23.30.100, 105(a) or 110(c)?

A) AS 23.30.100.

Even though the agency gave an administrative, July 1, 2005 injury date to this case, Employee had no duty to file a written injury report until he had a “compensable event.”  Cogger.  Employee’s first compensable event occurred when he lost time from work on August 18, 2005, because of his alleged, work-related injury.  Therefore, the 30-day time limit for Employee to file a written injury report began August 18, 2005.  Employee concedes he never filed a timely, formal Report of Occupational Injury or Illness form for his 2005 injury.  But the law does not require the form only to be used, exclusively.  Employee testified he sent a facsimile of Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 paperwork to Employer on August 31, 2005.  Employer did not dispute this fact. Rather, it concededly altered Employee’s rehire status based upon its receipt, and sent him a check.  Therefore, this undisputed fact is not subject to analysis under the presumption of compensability.  Employer’s witness Lori Roberts could only say she did not think she had ever seen the paperwork.  

The law requires written notice must include Employee’s name and address, statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of injury, and must be signed by Employee.  The current statute also requires the injured worker’s authority to release his records of medical treatment.  Employee’s injury occurred prior to the effective date of the amended statute, and the “record release” requirement was not in effect in July or August 2005.  

The form Employee faxed to Employer on August 31, 2005 included three pages.  Page one was Employee’s statement of his claim.  This included his Social Security number, date his disability began, last date he worked, his name, date of birth, address, Employer’s name and address, and stated he stopped working because of a “work injury.”  Page two is the doctor’s certificate stating the injury’s nature and cause.  Page three identified Employer as the subject of Employee’s workers’ compensation “claim” and was signed and dated by Employee on August 31, 2005.  Notably, block 31 on page 3 also gives authority to release Employee’s medical and other records.  This three-page form contains all the information required under AS 23.30.100, with the exception of the precise time of Employee’s alleged injury.  As Employee alleges a cumulative trauma type injury culminating on August 18, 2005, the precise time is immaterial.  This form complies with the written legal notice requirement under AS 23.30.100, and was provided to Employer well within 30 days of August 18, 2005.  

Alternately, even if Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 three-page form did not comply with 
AS 23.30.100, it provided Employer with actual knowledge Employee was claiming a work-related injury.  This knowledge came well within the 30-day formal notice period.  Employer did not provide evidence showing at the time it received Employee’s facsimile it was somehow prejudiced in its ability to investigate Employee’s alleged injury, or send him for medical care.  Cogger.  

Lastly, English is not Employee’s first language.  SIME Dr. Tapper noted it was difficult to get a history from Employee even using a Spanish-language translator.  There is a factual dispute between Employee’s recollection of his conversation on August 18, 2005, with his supervisor Ms. Roberts, and her recollection of that conversation.  This dispute does not necessarily impugn either person’s credibility.  AS 23.30.122.  Rather, it is more likely Employee tried through an interpreter to convey to Ms. Roberts his shoulder and neck pain, but the gist of what he intended to say was literally “lost in translation.”  The fact Employee obtained paperwork from his first attending physician upon returning to California, sent it to Ms. Roberts as he was directed, and she sent him a check shortly thereafter as promised, supports his testimony he verbally reported his injury on August 18, 2005.  This verbal report provided Employer with actual knowledge of his injury well within the 30-day time limit for reporting.  Employee’s claim is not barred under AS 23.30.100.

B) AS 23.30.105(a).

Employee clearly filed a claim on November 27, 2006, even though it does not appear to have been served on the parties by the agency.  Nevertheless, Employer received the claim because it completed a Controversion Notice on December 12, 2006, even though Employer never filed the controversion until April 10, 2008.  Because Employee filed his claim for benefits well within two years of the administrative July 1, 2005 date of injury, and the August 18, 2005 compensable event date of injury, his claim was timely.  It will not be barred under AS 23.30.105(a).

C) AS 23.30.110(c).

Employee clearly filed a claim on November 27, 2006.  Employer completed a Controversion Notice on December 12, 2006.  However, Employee’s agency file shows this Controversion Notice was never filed with the agency until April 10, 2008.  The date stamp is consistent with the agency’s computer database, which also shows a controversion notice filed April 10, 2008.  A claim is not controverted until the Controversion Notice is filed and served upon all parties.  8 AAC 45.182(a).  Therefore, Employer controverted Employee’s claim on April 10, 2008.  Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on both his November 27, 2006 and his November 11, 2009 claims on February 26, 2010.  As February 26, 2010 is well within two years of April 10, 2008, and well within two years of any controversion Employer could have filed on Employee’s November 11, 2009 claim, Employee’s claims cannot be dismissed under AS 23.30.110(c).

2) If Employee’s claims are not barred, is he entitled to TTD or medical costs?

A) TTD.

Ordinarily, the statutory presumption of compensability analysis applies to TTD claims when there is a factual dispute concerning disability causation, medical stability, or disability length.  Employer argued Employee is not entitled to the statutory presumption because he failed to file a timely, written injury report.  This decision determined Employee filed a timely written injury report, though not on a Board-prescribed form, which is not required under the statute.  Therefore, this decision will apply the statutory presumption analysis.  AS 23.30.120.

First, Employee raised the statutory presumption of compensability through his own testimony and Dr. Kircher’s report.  Employee testified he left his job on August 18, 2005, as he could no longer continue working because of his symptoms arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.  Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 disability certificate states Employee was disabled from his employment with Employer from August 24, 2005, to at least September 24, 2005, because of a work-related injury.  This minimal, threshold evidence is adequate to raise the presumption and cause it to attach to Employee’s TTD claim.  Cheeks.

This shifts the burden of production to Employer to rebut the presumption with substantial evidence to the contrary.  Dr. Stump’s and Dr. Champoux’s EME report states Employee’s global complaints are not substantially caused by his employment.  This evidence is adequate to rebut the presumption and it drops out.  Sokolowski.

The burden of production and persuasion now shifts back to Employee.  To prevail on his TTD claim, Employee must prove he was disabled and not medically stable during the period for which he seeks disability benefits.  Employee seeks TTD from August 18, 2005, and continuing.  Dr. Kircher’s disability certificate provides evidence Employee was disabled because of a cervical and thoracic strain and a cervical brachial syndrome as a result of his employment with Employer.  This expressly supports a TTD period from August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005.  EME physicians Dr. Stump and Dr. Champoux agree Employee likely sustained a cervical straining injury on July 1, 2005.  They opine it would have resolved in 10 to 12 weeks.  Ten to 12 weeks from July 1, 2005, is a range from September 9, 2005, to about September 23, 2005.  The outside limit of this range comports with Dr. Kircher’s opinion Employee was disabled until September 24, 2005.  Lastly, SIME Dr. Tapper agrees with the EME physicians.  

However, Dr. Tapper uses an incorrect hybrid standard of proof, which focuses on the “the substantial factor” rather than “a substantial factor.”  Semantics aside, it is likely Dr. Tapper meant to say “the substantial cause,” which only applies to injuries occurring on or after November 7, 2005.  Dr. Tapper states, however, Employee’s work-related injury aggravated pre-existing conditions temporarily and produced the need for medical treatment.  He does not actually answer the disability question directly.

There is no medical evidence stating Employee was medically stable during the period August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005.  Employer does not argue he was medically stable during this period.  Employee’s medical and lay evidence preponderates in his favor for this period.

However, the weight of medical evidence does not support a finding Employee’s continued disability after September 24, 2005, arose out of or in the course of his work for Employer in 2005.  Employer correctly notes many of Employee’s medical records are missing from the file.  It also correctly notes he has a litany of pre-existing conditions.  However, this decision bases its TTD award on Employee’s cervical strain he sustained while working for Employer, which culminated on August 18, 2005.  A cervical strain is not a complex medical condition.  The repetitive nature of Employee’s work for Employer could easily cause a cervical strain.  Therefore, Employee’s lack of total candor with his medical examiners about his prior injuries is immaterial.  There is ample medical evidence from Dr. Kircher, Dr. Stump, Dr. Champoux and Dr. Tapper to support a finding Employee was disabled from his work-related cervical strain for about 30 days.

Similarly, there is ample medical evidence from Dr. Stump, Dr. Champoux and Dr. Tapper showing Employee’s other pre-existing medical conditions were not permanently aggravated by his work for Employer.  Dr. Tapper’s report is given considerable weight.  He saw Employee in 2011, and stated convincingly that Employee’s then-current symptoms were the result of aging and deterioration of his pre-existing medical conditions over time.  Dr. Tapper agrees with the EME physician on this issue.  The EME doctors saw Employee in 2010 and stated Employee’s “global” symptoms are not attributable to his 2005 employment with Employer.  This includes his complaints of pain in his head, bilateral scapulas, upper extremities, shoulders, lower back and lower extremities.

Employee provided additional medical evidence from Dr. Roger in support of his claim.  Employer timely “Smallwooded” this material.  However, Employer raised no foundational objections to Dr. Roger’s documents, and those which are “business records,” i.e.,  physician’s reports, have adequate trustworthiness to be considered over Employers’ objection.  Dobos; Parker.  Letters from a physician to Employee’s attorney will not be considered.  Parker.  The admissible medical reports are given less weight because they attribute causation to a myriad of Employee’s continuing symptoms absent a full medical history of his pre-existing injuries and conditions.  Employee conceded he did not tell his medical providers about is past injury history, stating they did not ask.  In this regard, Employee lacks credibility, since the reports specifically say he was asked and denied any past injury, with one exception, after Dr. Tapper reminded him of an incident.  It is inconceivable none of these physicians would inquire into Employee’s past history of work-related injuries.  Without knowing Employee’s past history, doctors who attribute causation to anything other than a cervical strain will not be relied upon in this decision.  By contrast, extensive knowledge of a person’s past medical history is not necessary, however, for a physician to properly diagnose a cervical strain from the type of work Employee was doing for Employer in 2005.

Based upon this medical evidence, Employee was disabled from his work-related cervical strain from August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005, was not medically stable, and is entitled to TTD for this period.  Employer will be directed to pay these benefits.  Employee’s claim for TTD at any time after September 24, 2005, will be denied.

B) Medical costs.

A similar analysis applies to Employee’s claim for medical costs.  First, Employee raised the statutory presumption of compensability through his own testimony and Dr. Kircher’s report.  Employee testified he sought medical care because of his symptoms arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.  Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 disability certificate states Employee needed medical care because of a work-related injury with Employer from August 24, 2005, to at least September 24, 2005.  This minimal, threshold evidence is adequate to raise the presumption and cause it to attach to Employee’s medical benefit claim.  Cheeks.

This shifts the burden of production to Employer to rebut the presumption with substantial evidence to the contrary.  Dr. Stump’s and Dr. Champoux’s EME report states Employee’s global complaints are not substantially caused by his employment.  Consequently, any medical care for those varied conditions and complaints would not be work-related.  This evidence is adequate to rebut the presumption and it drops out.  Sokolowski.

The burden of production and persuasion now shifts back to Employee.  To prevail on his medical benefit claim, Employee must prove he incurred medical expenses as a result of his work-related injury, the treatment was reasonable and necessary, and he must prove his claim by providing medical statements or bills for outstanding medical expenses, and evidence of what he paid from his own pocket.   Dr. Kircher’s August 31, 2005 disability certificate states Employee needed medical care because of a work-related injury with Employer.  EME physicians Dr. Stump and Dr. Champoux agree Employee likely sustained a cervical straining injury on July 1, 2005.  They opine it would have resolved in 10 to 12 weeks.  Ten to 12 weeks from July 1, 2005, is a range from September 9, 2005, to about September 23, 2005.   Medical care during this period is reasonable and necessary to address the effects of Employee’s cervical strain.  SIME Dr. Tapper agrees with the EME physicians, and also states Employee’s work-related injury aggravated pre-existing conditions temporarily and produced the need for medical treatment.  Therefore, Employee’s medical care from August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005, is compensable.

However, Employee conceded he never filed or served evidence of outstanding medical bills or out-of-pocket medical expenses.  Employee gave no reason why he or his non-attorney representative could not have gathered his medical bills over the last several years and filed and served a copy.  The agency file contains no such evidence.  Employee had to file and serve his evidence pursuant to the applicable regulations but failed to do so.  This decision may not retain jurisdiction over this issue and allow Employee to file this evidence post-hearing.  Failla.  Therefore, Employee failed to prove his claim for payment of outstanding medical bills or reimbursement of out-of-pocket medical expenses for the compensable period by a preponderance of the evidence, because he submitted no proof, and his claim for medical costs will be denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) Employee’s claims are not barred by AS 23.30.100, 105(a) or 110(c).

2) Employee is entitled to TTD.

3) Employee is not entitled to medical costs.


ORDER
1) Employee’s claim for TTD from August 24, 2005, through September 24, 2005, is granted.

2) Employee’s claim for TTD after September 24, 2005, is denied.

3) Employee’s claim for medical costs is denied.

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on June 18, 2012.
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Patricia Vollendorf, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A party may seek review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision and order by filing a petition for review with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  Unless a petition for reconsideration of a Board decision or order is timely filed with the board under AS 44.62.540, a petition for review must be filed with the commission within 15 days after service of the board’s decision and order.  If a petition for reconsideration is timely filed with the board, a petition for review must be filed within 15 days after the board serves the reconsideration decision, or within 15 days from date the petition for reconsideration is considered denied absent Board action, whichever is earlier.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JORGE OSOBAMPO Employee / applicant v. ICICLE SEAFOODS, INC, Employer; SEABRIGHT INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer / defendants; Case No.  200524063; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties on June 18, 2012.
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Anna Subeldia, Office Assistant
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